

Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by its diverse opportunities and future

Constitution Working Group

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 2 October 2023 at the Committee Room 2, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL

Membership:

Councillors Graham Snell (Chair), Lynn Worrall (Vice-Chair), Deborah Arnold, Andrew Jefferies, John Kent, Joycelyn Redsell, Neil Speight and Lee Watson

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

		Page
1.	Apologies for Absence	
2.	Minutes	1 - 6
	To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Constitution Work Group Meeting held on 27 July 2023.	
3.	Items of Urgent Business	
4.	Declarations of Interest	
5.	Update and Review of Finance Procedure Rules (CIPFA) (Chapter 9, Part 2) - (Paperwork to follow)	
6.	Overview and Scrutiny Rules (Chapter 4)	7 - 20
	Members are asked to make comments on the sections presented. Officers will introduce the sections highlighting points to consider.	
7.	Council Procedure Rules (Chapter 2)	21 - 48
	Members are asked to make comments on the sections presented. Officers will introduce the sections highlighting points to consider.	

Minutes of the Meeting of the Constitution Working Group held on 27 July 2023 at 7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Graham Snell (Chair), Lynn Worrall (Vice-Chair),

Deborah Arnold, Andrew Jefferies, Joycelyn Redsell,

Neil Speight and Lee Watson

Apologies: Councillor John Kent

In attendance:

Matthew Boulter, Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member

Services

Asmat Hussain, Director of Legal and Governance and

Monitoring Officer

Rhiannon Whiteley, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Election of Chair

Councillor G Snell was nominated and it was agreed that he would be Chair.

2. Election of Vice-Chair

Councillor L Worrall was nominated as Vice-Chair and this was unanimously agreed.

3. Apologies for Absence

Apologies were received from Councillor J Kent.

4. Items of Urgent Business

There were no items of urgent business.

5. Declarations of Interest

No interests were declared.

6. Terms of Reference

The Senior Democratic Services Officer introduced the item and explained that the terms of reference sets out what the Working Group were constitutionally required to do. There were no comments or queries from Members.

7. Briefing Note - Update on the Constitution Review

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services introduced the item and explained that the BVI report had highlighted the need to review the constitution. It is a very big project and input from members and officers as well as experts from outside the Council will be required. Feedback from members and officers as to how they use the constitution day-to-day will be extremely useful. Madeleine Humphrey and Steve Rowley from CIPFA have been working on the Financial Regulations and Rules.

Councillor Speight commented that in his view the current structure enables secrecy and this is evidenced by what has happened as power was vested in a small number of people. The BVI is a new beginning. Councillor Speight stated he was concerned about governance by Cabinet and the strong leader model and wanted a return to the Committee system.

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services confirmed as part of the review they were looking at brining the Overview and Scrutiny Committees down from 6 to 3 and calling them Place, Realm and People.

The Chair highlighted that this is the very first meeting and commented that these issues will crop up throughout the process. He responded that Cabinet was accountable, and people were within their rights to call-in Cabinet decisions. However, the call-in procedure has been under used by those on both sides. He also commented that larger Committees worked really well in some other Local Authorities.

The Vice-Chair agreed as they work through the Constitution review it will naturally fall to what it needs to be.

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services confirmed that there are 400 pages to look at and therefore there has to be a first point of entry as not all things can be changed at the same time.

The Interim Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer confirmed she has been part of a constitution review previously, one was for another Local Authority under intervention which took 12 months and the other which wasn't for an Authority under intervention which took longer. The Interim Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer commented that Thurrock's constitution is small in comparison and the test of a successful constitution is if an ordinary member of the public can understand it. It is a live document and should be regularly reviewed.

Councillor Watson commented that work was completed previously and some of the amendments made by the Constitution Working Group have come into place this year. Following the BVI report, there are parts that need to be embedded quickly such as the Finance Procedure Rules and she would like this to be looked at first.

8. CIPFA Update on Finance Procedure Rules

Madeleine Humphrey provided an update from CIPFA. She confirmed the following: -

- that they have interviewed members about the finance procedures.
- There was a lack of transparency around financial decision making.
 The new Financial Procedure Rules need to set up a framework so that everyone knows what their roles are and they need to be written in plain English.
- They will be looking at Council owned Companies and how they are established, run and governed.
- Investment delegations and financial limits will be looked at and whether they work for members and officers.
- There will be different provisions during the intervention period and these will be disapplied once the Council is no longer in intervention.

Steve Rowley explained that he is an accountant and confirmed that whilst there was some good parts to the constitution, small groups of officers had too much latitude and this needs to be tied down. Once the new rules are written and agreed CIPFA will help officers and members to understand them and embed them.

Councillor Snell responded that as Portfolio Holder for Finance he had already seen a huge change in how things are reported to him and he is now receiving reports on everything.

Councillor Watson queried what number of delegations was recommended as normal in a Local Authority.

Steve Rowley confirmed that there isn't a number, they can benchmark against other Local Authorities and come up with what is right for Thurrock.

Councillor Speight highlighted that all transactions should be available to the public. Councillor Redsell agreed that Officers do not provide enough detail.

Councillor Watson raised the issue of Procurement contracts and queried if they can be more robust in how they are delegated and who is responsible at what level. Steve Rowley responded that he will look at them from a financial perspective and Madeleine and the Interim Director of Legal and Governance will look at them from a legal perspective. The meeting discussed that there are new procurement rules coming into force next year.

The draft new Financial Procedure Rules should be completed by 21st August 2023

9. Draft Action Points and Work Programme

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services referred to the draft action points and work programme in the agenda and confirmed their purpose is to track actions. Every other month there will be input from Officers via the Officers Constitution Working Group and then the next month the Members Constitution Working Group will meet to provide their input. Officers will be commenting on the new Financial Procedure Rules at their next meeting on 21st August 2023.

The Leader raised that ED2's should be more transparent.

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services confirmed they are published on the website however they are not necessarily easy to find. This is a good example of where merely changing words in the constitution may not be enough and actions will be required to make practical changes.

The Interim Director of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer highlighted that accessibility is critical and she will push that agenda. She recommended that Members look at other Local Authorities Council Procedure Rules or watch another Local Authority's Full Council meeting and see how their rules help them conduct their meetings. Members could also make enquiries with the third-party sector and partners about their views on the meetings.

The meeting discussed the technical presentation of the constitution and how this hindered accessibility. Councillor Speight commented that it requires professional input and it will cost money but the Committee should not be averse to this.

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services stated that other Councils Constitutions do contain pictures and are more of a brochure style.

Councillor Watson requested a member's briefing on the Council Procedure Rules.

Councillor Snell suggested the constitution document should have a direction of travel whilst being reviewed and be colour coded red, amber and green to indicate what we have now, what we want and the final version.

10. Full Council Motion

The Head of Democratic, Scrutiny and Member Services confirmed that the Council Procedure Rules will be brought to the Group next month. There are 3 guidelines that are being sought to be reviewed: -

- i.) 30 Minutes of public questions
- ii.) 45 Minutes of Member's questions (this was recently increased from 30 minutes as recommended by the CWG)
- iii.) Meeting duration guideline of 3 hours (this was 2 hours and has recently been increased as a result of the CWG)

- Councillor Speight confirmed that Full Council is a showcase for the work of Councillors. His view was items were being stretched so other questions don't get asked.
- Councillor Redsell highlighted that people are watching and residents need to understand how the Council does things.
- Councillor D Arnold raised concerns about the length of members working days and this was stretching up to 19 hours for some.
- Councillor Watson raised that that ruling party should ask less questions as they can just ask their colleagues, the time for questions should be for the opposition to ask.
- The meeting discussed that even the ruling party Councillors want to ensure their residents questions are asked.
- The meeting discussed the issue of a topic for debate at Full Council.
- Councillor Speight raised that emergency questions should be allowed as sometimes thing come up at the last minute which should be discussed in the public arena.
- Councillor Worrall highlighted that the Equalities report should come to Full Council every year.
- The meeting discussed that a motion should be increased to 400 words from 200.
- Councillor Watson raised that at the previous Full Council meeting she
 had not seen the amendment to a motion until she sat down which
 gave her no time to prepare anything in response.

The meeting finished at 8.50 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk



Part 3 – Scrutiny Procedure Rules

1. Meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees

- 1.1 There shall be up to six ordinary meetings of each of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees each year.
- 1.2 Subject to Rule 1.4 below, the time and place of meetings shall be as set out in the Calendar of Meetings approved by the Council annually although the Chair and Monitoring Officer or a Committee by resolution, may determine that an ordinary meeting shall be held at such other place as they consider appropriate. The Chair and/or Monitoring Officer may determine, having regard to special circumstances, that a particular ordinary meeting be held at such other time as they consider appropriate.
- 1.3 The Chair (or in his/her absence, the Vice Chair) may cancel or postpone an ordinary meeting prior to the issue of an Agenda for the meeting where, after consultation with the Monitoring Officer, the Chair (or in his/her absence, the Vice Chair) considers that there is insufficient business to transact or where an event occurs which the Chair (or in his/her absence, the Vice Chair) considers would make it inappropriate to hold the meeting on the intended date. If circumstances make it impossible for a meeting to be held as convened, the Chair (or in his/her absence, the Vice Chair), after consultation with the Monitoring Officer may postpone an ordinary meeting and hold the meeting on a date to be agreed.
- 1.4 The Chair, or in the Chair's absence the Vice-Chair, may from time to time agree to cancel meetings if there is insufficient business to transact at that time.
- 1.5 In addition, an extraordinary meeting of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may be called by either:
 - (a) The Chair of the relevant Committee, or in the Chair's absence the Vice-Chair
 - (b) A quorum of the Members of the Committee; or
 - (c) The Monitoring Officer if he/she considers it necessary or appropriate.
- 1.6 Meetings may be held in a location suited to the topic under consideration, at the discretion of the Committee Chair, or in the Chair's absence, the Vice-Chair.

2. Work Programme

- 2.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee shall be responsible for setting its own work programme, taking into account the wishes and preferences of the Members of that Committee, including Members who are not members of the largest political group on the Council or of any political group.
- 2.2 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee may receive requests from the Cabinet and suggestions from Officers of the Council and co-optees for particular topics to be scrutinised.

3. Agenda Items

- 3.1 Any Member of the Council may, with 7 working days' notice, request the Monitoring Officer to include an item on the agenda of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Upon receipt of such a request the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the item is included on the next available agenda for consideration by the relevant Committee, and advise the Chair accordingly.
- 3.2 There will be a standing item on the agenda of all ordinary meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees to allow such requests to be considered.
- 3.3 Any Member who submits a request will have the right to attend the meeting at which the item is to be considered, to explain the reasons for the request and to have the item discussed. The Committee will decide either:
 - (a) If the matter is a simple one, to resolve it forthwith
 - (b) To request Officers to prepare a report for the next convenient meeting
 - (c) To set up a task and finish group to investigate and report back to the Committee
 - (d) To make recommendations to the Cabinet or Council, as appropriate
 - (e) To decide to take no further action upon the request, for stated reasons.
- 3.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall also respond, as soon as their work programme permits, to requests from the Council and, if they consider it appropriate, the Cabinet, to review particular areas of Council activity. Where they do so, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall report their findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet or Council, as appropriate. The Council and/or the Cabinet shall consider and respond to a report of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee within two months of receiving it unless otherwise agreed by the Chair of the relevant Committee.

Reports of Cabinet Portfolio Holders

- 3.5 Once during the municipal year, the Cabinet Portfolio Holder may be requested to report to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the progress or otherwise of their respective roles and responsibilities as follows:
 - (a) Each Portfolio Holder will submit written reports to one meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee per year, which should be circulated with the main agenda for the meeting.
 - (b) The time allowed to introduce the report and receive questions on each report shall, unless otherwise agreed by the Committee, not exceed 30 minutes, during which time the Cabinet Member will have up to 5 minutes to introduce the report, all Members will be able to seek to make contributions and ask questions on the report, after which the Portfolio Holder will have up to 2 minutes to sum-up.

4. Policy Review and Development

- 4.1 The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees in relation to the development of the Council's Budget and Policy Framework is set out in detail in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in Chapter 3 Part 3.
- 4.2 In relation to the development of the Council's approach to other matters not forming part of its Budget and Policy Framework Budget, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may:
 - (a) Consider and make recommendations to the Cabinet on any matters that are consistent with its terms of reference
 - (b) Hold enquiries and investigate the available options for future direction in policy development and appoint advisers and assessors to assist in this process, within available Budgets
 - (c) Do anything which is reasonable to assist or inform its deliberations, including a general call for evidence, site visits, public surveys, public meetings and commissioning research
 - (d) Ask witnesses to attend to address it on any matter under consideration and pay to any advisers, assessors or witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so.
- 4.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may also exercise the above tasks through Task and Finish groups.

5. Procedure at Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meetings

- 5.1 Overview and scrutiny Committees shall consider the following business:
 - (a) Minutes of the last meeting
 - (b) Receipt of urgent business
 - (c) Declarations of interest (including whipping declarations)
 - (d) The receipt of petitions from members of the public (in accordance with the Public Participation Procedure as set out later in this Chapter.)
 - (e) Public questions, statements or deputations (in accordance with the Public Participation in Scrutiny Procedure as set out in later in this Chapter in Rule 14)
 - (f) Consideration of any matter referred to the Committee by a Member under Rules 3.1 or 3.2 above
 - (g) Responses of the Council or the Cabinet to the Committee's reports or recommendations
 - (h) Any other business specified in the agenda for the meeting, and
 - (i) The Forward Plan and its work programme.

- 5.2 The provisions of the Committee Procedure Rules set out in Chapter 5 will be applied to meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to the extent they are considered appropriate.
- 5.3 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts investigations (for example, with a view to policy development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at Committee meetings, which are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles:
 - (a) that the investigation is conducted fairly and all Members of the Committee be given the opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak
 - (b) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and courtesy
 - (c) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the investigation or analysis
- 5.4 Within those principles the Council expects the Overview and Scrutiny Committees to be effective, thorough and incisive and to consider all relevant evidence in their work. It also expects the Committees to strive for continuous improvement in the overview and scrutiny function and to develop further opportunities for public engagement.
- 5.5 Following any investigation or review, the Committee shall prepare a report for submission to the Cabinet and/or Council as appropriate and shall make its report and findings public subject to the Access to Information Rules and provisions relating to confidential and exempt reports or information, and any prohibition, limitation or restriction on disclosure arising from statute, any rule of law, or order of a court.
- 5.6 The Protocol for Member/Officer Relations contained in Chapter 7 of the Constitution shall apply to the attendance of Officers giving evidence to an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or sub-Committee.

6. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committees

- An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may prepare a formal report, with recommendations, and submit it to the Monitoring Officer with a notice requiring it to be considered by the Cabinet or the Council as appropriate, depending on which body is responsible for the function concerned and whether the proposals are consistent with the Council's Budget and Policy Framework. Where a report is to be made to the Council, the Monitoring Officer shall refer a copy to the Leader with notice that the matter is to be referred to the Council.
- 6.2 If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee cannot agree on one single final report to the Cabinet or Council as appropriate, then one or more minority reports may be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Cabinet or Council at the same time as the majority report. Officers shall support the preparation of any such minority reports.
- 6.3 The Cabinet or Council as appropriate, in compliance with its legal duty to comply with any notice given by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee under Rule 6.1 above, shall:

- (a) consider the report and recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its next available meeting
- (b) respond to any such report within two months of its receipt indicating what action, if any, the authority or the Cabinet proposes to take, and if it decides to take no action, the reasons for that decision
- 6.4 The agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include a standard item entitled 'Overview and Scrutiny Committee Matters' to facilitate the Cabinet's early consideration of scrutiny reports and recommendations, which shall be included at this point on the agenda unless they have been reported as part of a substantive item elsewhere on the agenda.
- Reports and recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny Committees will normally be presented at Cabinet and Council meetings by the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair or Vice-Chair, or by another non-executive Member nominated by that Committee. The Member concerned will be invited to participate in discussion of the report.

Reports on Local Improvement Targets

6.6 Where the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee or any other Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or recommendations on a local improvement target specified in the Local Area Agreement that relates to a relevant partner authority, it may by written notice require the relevant partner authority to have regard to the report or recommendation in question in exercising its functions. This power will be exercised in accordance with such government regulations and statutory guidance as may be issued under section 21C of the Local Government Act 2000 (inserted by section 122 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007).

Reports on Local Crime and Disorder Matters

6.7 Where the Cleaner Greener and Safer Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or recommendations on a local crime and disorder matter within its terms of reference, it will copy the report to the responsible authorities, notifying them of their duty under section 19 of the Police and Justice Act 2006 (as amended by section 126 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) (a) to consider the report or recommendations; (b) to respond to the Committee in writing within 28 days indicating what (if any) action it proposes to take; and (c) to have regard to the report or recommendations in exercising its functions. This power will be exercised in accordance with the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009. The matters considered by the Committee will be crime and disorder matters to the extent that they fall within the Council's crime and disorder strategy.

Reports on Local Health Service Matters

- 6.8 Where the Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee makes a report or recommendations on a local health service matter, it will copy the report to the relevant NHS bodies and request a response in writing within two calendar months.
- 6.9 Where the Committee (including any joint health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to which the Committee has appointed one or more Members) has been consulted by a local NHS body on any proposal for a substantial variation or development in local NHS

services, and the Committee (having considered the evidence) is not satisfied that consultation has been adequate, or considers that the proposal would not be in the interests of the health service in the area, then it may report in writing to the Secretary of State, under section 244, NHS Act 2006.

7. Rights of Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members to Documents

- 7.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committees will have access to the Forward Plan of key decisions of the Cabinet and timetable for decisions and intentions for consultation.
- 7.2 In addition to their rights as Councillors, Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees have the additional right to documents, and to notice of meetings as set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in Chapter 8 of the Constitution.
- 7.3 Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent more detailed liaison between the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committees as appropriate depending on the particular matter under consideration.

8. Members and Officers giving Account

- 8.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee (or Task and Finish group) may scrutinise and review decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council function or other matter that is within its terms of reference. As well as reviewing documentation an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (including any task group) may, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, require any Member of the Cabinet, the Chief Executive and/or any Director to attend before it to explain, in relation to matters within their remit:
 - (a) Any particular decision or series of decisions
 - (b) The extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy
 - (c) The performance of their areas of responsibility
- 8.2 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may also require any Council Member who has been granted local ward Member powers (for instance a delegated Budget) under section 236 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 to attend before it to answer questions on any function which the Member has power to exercise.
- 8.3 It is the duty of those persons described in Rules 8.1 and 8.2 above to attend if so required.
- 8.4 Where any Cabinet Member, Ward Member or Officer is required to attend an Overview and Scrutiny Committee or a task group under this provision, Democratic Services staff will inform that Member or Officer in writing, giving at least 5 working days' notice of a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee.
- Where the account to be given to the Committee will require the production of a report, then the Member or Officer concerned will be given at least 14 working days' notice to allow for preparation of that documentation.

Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or Officer is unable to attend on the required date, then a substitute may be asked to attend or the Overview and Scrutiny Committee may, in consultation with the Member or Officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance, which shall be no later than the next scheduled meeting.

9. Attendance by others

- 9.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Committee may invite people other than those people referred to above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may wish to hear for example from residents, representatives from the local NHS Trust, stakeholders, Members and Officers in other parts of the public sector, or experts, and may invite such people to attend.
- 9.2 Public participation in meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees shall be governed by the provisions set out later in this chapter.
- 9.3 Any Member of the Council shall be entitled to attend meetings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and to speak once on any agenda item, with further speaking being at the discretion of the Chair.
- 9.4 Rule 9.3 above is subject to the Rules on non-pecuniary, pecuniary and disclosable pecuniary interests in the Members' Code of Conduct set out in Chapter 7, Part 2 of the Constitution; which would permit a Member with a non-pecuniary or non-disclosable pecuniary interest or disclosable pecuniary interest to attend an Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting but only for the purpose of answering questions or giving evidence at the request of the Committee relating to the business under discussion; the Member must then withdraw from the meeting. If the Member wishes to make representations to the Committee, he/she may do so after being granted a dispensation
- 9.5 Rule 9.4 above does not prevent an Overview and Scrutiny Committee from requiring Cabinet Members or inviting other persons (including Council Members) to attend before it to answer questions.

10. Call-in

- 10.1 Call-in is the exercise of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees' statutory power in section 21(3) of the Local Government Act 2000 to review an Executive / Cabinet decision that has been made but not yet implemented. Where a decision is called in and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to refer it back to the Cabinet for reconsideration, it cannot be implemented until the Call-In procedure is complete.
- 10.2 Any decision of the Executive / Cabinet, an individual Member of the Cabinet or a Committee of the Cabinet, or a Key Decision made by an Officer under authority delegated by the Cabinet, is subject to Call-In. A decision may be called in only once. An Executive / Cabinet recommendation to full Council may not be called in.
- 10.3 The Call-In procedure and the powers to refer a decision back for reconsideration may be exercised by any of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, within the remit of their respective terms of reference.

- 10.4 Requests for Call-In can only be made if there is evidence that the decision-maker did not take the decision in accordance with the principles of decision-making as set out in the Constitution (Article 13, paragraph 2.1) and repeated as follows:
 - (a) Due regard for the individuals and communities served by Thurrock Borough Council
 - (b) Proportionality that is, the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome
 - (c) Due consultation
 - (d) Respect for human rights
 - (e) A presumption in favour of openness, and
 - (f) Clarity of aims and desired outcomes that is, link between strategy and implementation
 - (g) Consistent with the Council's Budget and Policy Framework
- 10.5 Call-in of decisions which may be contrary to the Budget and Policy Framework shall be governed by the provisions of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Chapter 3 Part 3 of the Constitution.

The Call-In Procedure

- 10.6 Once made, an Executive decision shall be published, in the form of a decisions notice, within two working days at the Council's main offices and on its public website. The decisions notice will be sent to all Members of the Council within the same timescale.
- 10.7 The decisions notice will bear the date on which it is published and will specify that the decision will be effective on the expiry of 5 working days after the publication of the decision and may then be implemented, unless called in under this provision within that 5 clear working day period. The deadline for a Call-In request will be specified in the decisions digest.
- 10.8 Requests for Call-In may be made by either:
 - (a) An individual Member where a decision has particular significance for that Member's ward
 - (b) The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 - (c) Any two Members of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 - (d) Any three non-executive Members of the Council
 - (e) A voluntary group with an interest in the area
 - (f) A local business situated in the area (except in relation to decisions relating to procurement of goods and services)

- (g) 10 members of the public living, working or studying within Thurrock Council area
- 10.9 A Call-In request must be in the form of a written notice submitted to the Monitoring Officer and received before the published deadline. Either one notice containing all required signatures or separate emails from the persons making the Call-In request will be acceptable.
- 10.10 The notice must set out:
 - (a) the resolution or resolutions that the Member(s) wish to call-in
 - (b) the reasons why they wish the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider referring it back to the Cabinet, citing one or more of the reasons set out in Rule 10.4 above and the particulars of the reason/s, and
 - (c) the alternative course of action or recommendations that they wish to propose
- 10.11 The Call-In request will be deemed valid unless either:
 - (a) The procedures set out in Rules 10.7 to 10.10 have not been properly followed
 - (b) The grounds for call-in as set out in Rule 10.4 above have not been met
 - (c) A similar decision has been called in to the Committee previously within 2 years
 - (d) The decision has been recorded as urgent in accordance with Rules 10.14 to 10.17 below
 - (e) The Chief Executive after consultation with the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, considers the Call-In to be frivolous, vexatious or not a proper use of the Call-In provisions taking into account the following factors:
 - (i) Whether the matter has been considered as part of pre-decision scrutiny by any scrutiny Committee, Sub-Committee, task group or panel.
 - (ii) Whether there has been any substantive change in the nature of the decisions being made since any pre-decision scrutiny of the proposals.
 - (iii) Whether the recommendations or alternative course of action or recommendations in the Call-In request have been previously considered and rejected in whole or part as part of pre-decision scrutiny.
 - (iv) Any other relevant factor
 - (f) The Chief Executive in consultation with the Monitoring Officer considers that the Call-In would result in the Council failing to discharge its legal duties

- 10.12 Before deciding on its validity, the Chief Executive may seek clarification of the Call-In request from the Member(s) concerned. In the absence of the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer shall exercise the Chief Executive's functions in this respect.
- 10.13 Upon deciding on its validity, the Chief Executive shall forthwith notify the Member(s) concerned, the Leader and Portfolio Holder, the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the relevant Director/Assistant Director and Officer responsible for overview and scrutiny.

Decisions not subject to Call-In

- 10.14 The following categories of decision are not subject to Call-In:
 - (a) recommendations by the Cabinet on the Budget and Policy Framework, which will be determined by the Council
 - (b) decisions for urgent implementation under the Access to Information Procedure Rules
 - (c) urgent decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework as set out in Chapter 3, Part 3, Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules (Rule 4)
 - (d) decisions to award a contract following a lawful procurement process

Call-In and Urgency

- 10.15 The Call-In procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken is urgent. A decision is urgent if:
 - (a) A Call-In would prevent the Council reaching a decision that is required by statute or otherwise within a specified timescale
 - (b) Any delay likely to be caused by the Call-In process would seriously prejudice the Council's or the public's interests and the reasons for urgency are reported to the decision-making body or person before the decision is taken
 - (c) Any delay likely to be caused by the Call-In process would be likely to expose the Council, its Members or its constituents to significant level of risk, loss, damage or significant disadvantage
- 10.16 In the case of (b) above the decisions digest shall state whether the decision is an urgent one, and therefore not subject to Call-In. The consent of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required to agree to the decision being treated as a matter of urgency before it may be so treated. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice-Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee's consent is required. In the absence of that person, the Mayor's consent is required. In the absence of the Mayor, the Deputy Mayor of the Council's consent is required.
- 10.17 Where the Cabinet has recorded a decision as urgent, an Overview and Scrutiny Committee may retrospectively review actions arising from that decision but cannot delay its implementation.

Consideration by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

- 10.18 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that any valid Call-In is reported to the next available meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or will convene an extraordinary meeting in accordance with Rule 1.5 above.
- 10.19 The Member(s) submitting the request for Call-In will be expected to attend the meeting of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee to explain their reasons for the Call-In and the alternative course of action or recommendations they wish to propose.
- 10.20 Having considered the Call-In and the reasons given, the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee may either:
 - (a) Refer it back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, normally in time for its next scheduled meeting, setting out in writing the nature of its concerns and any alternative recommendations
 - (b) If it considers that the decision is outside the Council's Budget and Policy Framework, refer the matter to full Council after seeking the advice of the Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer in accordance with Rule 4 of the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Chapter 3, Part 3 of the Constitution
 - (c) Decide to take no further action, in which case the original Cabinet decision will be effective immediately.

Decisions Referred Back to the Decision-Maker

- 10.21 If a decision is referred back to the original decision-maker, that person or body shall then reconsider the matter, taking into account any concerns and recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and make a final decision, amending the decision or not, and give reasons for the decision.
- 10.22 If a decision relates to an Executive function, only the Cabinet can ultimately decide the matter, provided that it is in accordance with the Council's Budget and Policy Framework.

11. Councillor Call for Action

- 11.1 Any Member of the Council may, with 7 working days' notice, request the Monitoring Officer to include a Councillor Call for Action on the agenda of a relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Upon receipt of such a Call for Action the Monitoring Officer shall ensure that the item is included on the next available agenda for consideration by the relevant Committee, and advise the Chair accordingly.
- 11.2 A Councillor Call for Action must be in the form of a written application (the appropriate form is available from the Democratic Services Manager) submitted to the Monitoring Officer and received within the timescale outlined in Rule 11.1 above.
- 11.3 Any Member who submits a Call for Action will have the right to attend the meeting at which the item is to be considered, to explain the reasons for the Call for Action and to have the item discussed. The Committee will decide either:

- (a) If the matter is a simple one, to resolve it forthwith
- (b) To request the Officers to prepare a report for the next meeting
- (c) To request the Member submitting the Call for Action to provide further evidence or information to a future meeting
- (d) To set up a task and finish group to investigate and report back to the Committee
- (e) To make recommendations to the Cabinet or Council, as appropriate
- (f) To decide to take no further action upon the request, for stated reasons
- 11.4 The Councillor Call for Action will be deemed valid unless either:
 - (a) The procedures set out in Rules 11.1 and 11.2 have not been properly followed
 - (b) It does not relate to a local government matter (that is, it does not relate to the functions of the Council nor its partners)
 - (c) It does not relate to a local crime and disorder matter (including anti-social behaviour, behaviour adversely affecting the local environment and misuse of drugs, alcohol or other substances)
 - (d) It does not affect all or part of the ward for which the referring Member is elected, or any person who lives or works in that ward
 - (e) It is a matter that has been excluded by Order of the Secretary of State for example, planning or licensing appeals and other quasi-judicial matters or
 - (f) The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, considers the Call for Action to be frivolous, vexatious or clearly outside the Councillor Call for Action provisions; in which case the Monitoring Officer may reject the Call for Action request.
- 11.5 Before deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer may seek clarification of the Call for Action from the Member concerned. In the absence of the Monitoring Officer, the Deputy Monitoring Officer(s) shall exercise the Monitoring Officer's functions in this respect.
- 11.6 Upon deciding on its validity, the Monitoring Officer shall forthwith notify the Member concerned, the Leader and Portfolio Holder, the Chair and Vice-Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Chief Executive, the relevant Director/Assistant Director and Officer responsible for overview and scrutiny.

12. The Party Whip

- 12.1 When considering any matter in respect of which a Member of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee is subject to a party whip the Member must declare the existence and nature of the whip before the Committee's deliberations on the matter commence.
- 12.2 The declaration and the detail of the whipping arrangements shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.

13. Matters within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee

- 13.1 Where a matter falls within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and their respective remits in relation to it cannot be satisfactorily resolved by the Chairs of those Committees, the Chief Executive will decide which Committee should consider it.
- 13.2 Where an Overview and Scrutiny Committee conducts a review or scrutinises a matter which also falls (whether in whole or in part) within the remit of another Overview and Scrutiny Committee, then the Committee conducting the review shall normally either:
 - (a) invite the Chair of the other Committee (or his/her nominee) to attend its meetings when the matter is being reviewed, or
 - (b) consult the other Committee on its findings and recommendations, and include that Committee's comments in its own report to the Cabinet and/or Council

14. Public Participation in Scrutiny

- 14.1 Residents of Thurrock Council and those working, studying or with a business interest in the area are able to participate in the scrutiny process by:
 - (a) Attending meetings
 - (b) Presenting petitions
 - (c) Asking a question
 - (d) making a statement or forming a deputation to the Scrutiny Committee (see Rule 5.1.(e))
 - (e) Being involved in a scrutiny investigation; or
 - (f) Calling in a Cabinet decision (10 people need to sign a Call-In request)
- 14.2 Rules set out for Petitions and Questions in Chapter 1, Part 2, Article 3 will apply to those presenting a petition or a question to Overview and Scrutiny Committees.
- 14.3 When there is a scrutiny investigation that would benefit from public participation the Officer supporting such investigation will ensure such participation is facilitated.
- 14.4 Members of the public interested in participating in a particular scrutiny investigation can do so by contacting the Democratic Services staff or the relevant Chair directly.

15. Admission to and reporting of meetings

The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, allow any person to attend and report on meetings, or those parts of meetings, that are open to the public using any communication methods, including the internet, to publish, post or otherwise share the results of their reporting activities. "Reporting" is defined in the Regulations as:

- (a) Filming, photographing or making an audio recording of proceedings at a meeting
- (b) Using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later
- (c) Reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not present.
- If, at any time during the meeting, the Chair feels that filming, recording, reporting or photography is disrupting proceedings, the provisions set out in the Council Procedure Rules at Chapter 2, Part 2 of this Constitution, namely Rules 22.4, 22.7, 23.1and 23.2, will apply.
- 15.3 In any instance where the press and public have been excluded from the meeting in accordance with the provisions set out in Chapter 8 of this Constitution, the Council will not allow reporting on the meeting using methods which:
 - (a) can be used without that person's presence at the meeting, and
 - (b) enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later

Part 2 - Council Procedure and Rules

1. Types of Council Meeting

- 1.1 There may be five types of Council meeting:
 - (a) The Annual Meeting
 - (b) Ordinary meetings
 - (c) Extraordinary meetings
 - (d) State of borough debate
 - (e) Themed Council meetings
- 1.2 These meetings will be conducted in accordance with the procedure Rules set out in this part of the Constitution:

2. Annual Meeting of the Council

Time and Place

- 2.1 In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the Annual Meeting shall take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the Annual Meeting will take place in May.
- 2.2 Subject to Rule 2.1 above, the Annual Meeting shall be held at such date, time and place as the Council may resolve or, in default of such resolution, as may be determined by the Chief Executive and notified in writing to all Members.
- 2.3 The Annual Meeting of the Council shall take place at 7pm in the Council Offices at Grays unless otherwise determined by Council.

Business

- 2.4 The Annual Meeting will:
 - (a) Elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present
 - (b) Receive any apologies for absence from Members
 - (c) Approve correct minutes
 - (d) Elect a Mayor for the ensuing municipal year
 - (e) Consider urgent business
 - (f) Elect a Deputy Mayor for the ensuing municipal year
 - (g) Receive any declarations of interest from Members and Officers

- (h) Elect a Leader of the Council in any year in which the Leader's term of office expires [see Note below]
- (i) Receive any announcements from the Mayor or the Leader. An announcement being a formal communication of items of news or matters of public interest to the Council and should not take the form of a political statement.
- (j) Establish the following and their size and terms of reference:
 - (i) at least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the purposes of section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, and determine which Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Committees shall have responsibility for Crime and Disorder, for Education, and for Health
 - (ii) a Committee for the purposes of the Licensing Act 2003
 - (iii) Health and Wellbeing Board
 - (iv) such other Committees as may be necessary for the proper discharge of the functions of the Council
- (k) Note the allocation of seats on Committees and Sub-Committees to members of political groups and those seats to be filled by Members who are not in any political group, appoint Members to those allocated Committee seats in accordance with the nominations of the political group Leaders, and appoint Members to the remaining Committee seats from among those Members who are not in any political group
- (I) Appoint any co-opted Members to the Standards and Audit and to any Overview and Scrutiny Committees, and to other Committees as appropriate
- (m) Determine to which Committees substitute Members may be appointed and appoint substitute Members in accordance with the nominations of political group Leaders
- (n) Appoint such Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees as it falls to Council to appoint
- (o) Receive nominations for, and make appointments to, those outside bodies to which the Council is entitled to appoint except where that right of appointment is exercisable only by the Leader / Cabinet
- (p) Agree the date, time and place of ordinary meetings of Council for the coming municipal year
- (q) Consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting

Note: Rule 2.4 (h) above will apply only at annual meeting following an election, or following the removal or death or incapacity or resignation of the Leader.

Order of Business

2.5 The order of business at the Annual Meeting may be varied, except in respect of Rules 2.4 (a) to (g).

3. Ordinary Meetings

Time and Place

- 3.1 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place at such date time and place as may be determined by Council.
- 3.2 The Mayor or Deputy Mayor (if the Mayor is not available) may cancel or postpone an ordinary meeting prior to the issue of public notice of the meeting where, after consultation with the Chief Executive, the Mayor or Deputy Mayor (if the Mayor is not available) considers that there is insufficient business to transact or where an event occurs which the Mayor or Deputy Mayor (if the Mayor is not available) considers would make it inappropriate to hold the meeting on the intended date. If circumstances make it impossible for a meeting to be held as convened, the Mayor or Deputy Mayor (if the Mayor is not available), after consultation with the Chief Executive, may postpone an ordinary meeting and hold the meeting on a date to be agreed with Group Leaders.
- 3.3 All ordinary meetings of the Council shall take place at 7pm in the Council Offices at Grays unless otherwise determined by Council.

Business

- 3.4 Business at ordinary meetings will be to:
 - (a) Appoint a person to preside if neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor is present or able to act
 - (b) Receive any apologies for absence from Members
 - (c) Approve as a correct record the minutes of the last meeting
 - (d) Consider any matter which, by reason of special circumstances to be specified in the minutes of the meeting, the Mayor considers should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency
 - (e) Receive any declarations of interest from Members
 - (f) Receive any announcements from or on behalf of the Mayor or the Leader. An announcement being a formal communication of items of news or matters of public interest to the Council.
 - (g) Answer questions from members of the public
 - (h) Receive petitions from Members and from members of the public in accordance with the authority's Petition Scheme and Rule 14 below
 - (i) Make any appointments that fall to be made to Committees, Outside Bodies, Statutory and Other Panels

- (j) Deal with any business deferred from the last Council meeting
- (k) Receive any reports from the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, the Standards and Audit Committee, or other Committees of the Council
- (I) Receive reports from the Statutory Officers
- (m) Receive reports from the Cabinet or from Members of the Cabinet
- (n) Receive any reports from the Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny committees
- (o) Answer questions received from Members in the order in which they were received
- (p) Receive reports from Members and Officers attending as the authority's representatives on outside bodies about the business of joint arrangements, boards and partnership bodies and external organisations
- (q) Receive for information the minutes of Committees
- (r) Consider motions from Members in the order in which they were received
- 3.5 At the first ordinary meeting of the municipal year, an 'Opening of the Municipal Year' debate will be tabled. This item will last for a maximum of 1 hour and will outline the administration's plans for the upcoming municipal year. The Leader will have 10 minutes to introduce the item. There will be 50 minutes for debate, which will be managed by the Mayor.

Order of Business

- 3.6 Where the Monitoring Officer considers that the report or consideration of any item or items of business is likely to disclose confidential or exempt information, he/she may group any such items together on the agenda for convenience.
- 3.7 The Mayor may vary the above order of business at an ordinary meeting of the Council, except in respect of Rules 3.4 (a) to (e).

External speakers

3.8 Should he/she consider it conducive to or likely to facilitate the consideration of any item of Council business, the Mayor may invite such speakers to address the meeting of the Council as he/she considers appropriate. All Members will be given proper notice of the speaker's invitation and where any opportunities arise, and are appropriate, the facility to lodge, with notice, written questions to the speaker.

4. Extraordinary Meetings

Calling extraordinary meetings

- 4.1 Those listed below may require the Proper Officer (who for this purpose shall be the Chief Executive) to call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings:
 - (a) The Council by resolution

- (b) The Mayor
- (c) A Statutory Officer of the authority
- (d) Any five Members may together call the meeting and the Chief Executive shall make arrangements accordingly provided they have signed a requisition specifying the business to be considered at the meeting and presented the requisition to the Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed within seven days of the presentation of the requisition to call a meeting.
- 4.2 Upon receipt of such requirement, the Chief Executive shall arrange a meeting of Council to be held within 20 working days of receipt by her/him of the request.

Time and Place

4.3 All Extraordinary Meetings of the Council shall take place at 7pm in the Council Offices at Grays unless otherwise determined by Council.

Business

- 4.4 Business at extraordinary meetings of the Council shall be restricted to the following:
 - (a) To appoint a Member to preside at the meeting if neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor are present and able to preside
 - (b) To receive apologies for absence from Members
 - (c) To receive any declarations of interest from Members and Officers
 - (d) To consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting
 - (e) To consider any matter which, by reason of special circumstances to be specified in the minutes of the meeting, the Mayor considers should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

Order of Business

- 4.5 Where the Monitoring Officer considers that the report or consideration of any item or items of business is likely to disclose confidential or exempt information, he/she may group any such items together on the agenda for convenience.
- 4.6 The Mayor may vary the above order of business at an ordinary meeting of the Council, except in respect of Rule 4.4 (a) to (c).

5. State of Thurrock Debate

- 5.1 Subject to the Council's approval the Leader may call, in consultation with the Opposition Leader, a state of the borough debate annually on a date and in a form to be agreed with the Mayor.
- 5.2 The Leader will decide the form of the debate with the aim of enabling the widest possible public involvement. This may include holding workshops and other events prior to or during the state of the borough debate.

- 5.3 The debate will be chaired by the Mayor.
- 5.4 The results of the debate will be:
 - (a) disseminated as widely as practicable within the community and the agencies and organisations in the area, and
 - (b) considered by the Leader in proposing the Budget and Policy Framework to the Council for the coming year

6. Themed Council Meetings

- 6.1 In addition to approving a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year the Council, at its annual meeting, may consider whether to hold a meeting on a particular topic on a date to be agreed.
- The meeting shall take the form of a debate which may include provision for the Council to establish a Committee of all the Members of the Council for the purposes of the debate and, subject to the Council's agreement, for other individuals/organisations to contribute at the meeting.
- 6.3 The debate will be chaired by the Mayor.
- The results of any debate by a Committee of the Council consisting of all Members of the Council may, at its conclusion, be considered by the Council at its resumed meeting as a recommendation of a Committee in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules.

7. Notice of Summons and Cancellation of Meetings

- 7.1 The Chief Executive will give notice to the public of the date, time and place of any meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules.
- 7.2 At least five clear days before a meeting, the Chief Executive will send a summons signed by him or her by post to every Member of the Council or leave it at their usual place of residence or such other address as the Member shall have notified the Chief Executive in writing as the address to which he/she has notified the Chief Executive that he/she wishes summonses to be sent. The summons will give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be accompanied by such reports as are available. Where a meeting has been called by Members under Rule 4.1 (d), the notice of the meeting shall be signed by those Members.
 - NB. The period of "five clear days", excludes any Saturday, Sunday, Bank Holiday, Christmas Day or Good Friday, the day the agenda is sent to the Members and the day of the meeting.
- 7.3 The Mayor, in consultation with the Chief Executive, may cancel any meeting of Council by written notification to every Member and public notice in accordance with Rule 3.2.

8. Person Presiding

8.1 In this procedure, reference to the Mayor shall include reference to the person presiding at the meeting or part of the meeting where the Mayor, and/or the Deputy Mayor, is absent or

- unable to act, and the person presiding shall have all the powers of the Mayor for the purpose of the conduct of the meeting or item of business.
- This Rule applies when neither the Mayor nor the Deputy Mayor are present or able to act in respect of any meeting or particular item of business, and it is necessary to elect a person to preside in their absence.
- 8.3 The Chief Executive or in his/her absence an Officer on behalf of the Chief Executive shall exercise the powers of the Mayor in respect of the election of a Member to preside (but shall not have a first or casting vote) and shall invite nominations from Members and conduct an election for a person to preside at the meeting or in respect of the particular item, as necessary.
- 8.4 Where there is an equality of votes on such election, the Chief Executive or his/her representative may adjourn the meeting for up to 15 minutes. If after such adjournment, there is still an equality of votes, the matter shall be determined by the drawing of lots.

9. Quorum

- 9.1 The quorum of a meeting will be one third of the number of Members of the Council that is, 17, where there are no vacancies amongst the Members.
- 9.2 If, once a meeting has started, the Mayor is aware that a quorum may not be present, he/she shall count the number of Members present and, if a quorum is not present, declare there is not a quorum present. The Mayor shall then adjourn the meeting for not more than 15 minutes to secure the attendance of a quorum or adjourn the meeting to a date, time and place determined by the Mayor. If the Mayor does adjourn the meeting for a maximum of 15 minutes, and at the expiry of that time a quorum is still not present, he/she shall adjourn the meeting to a date, time and place determined by the Mayor.

10. Record of Attendance

10.1 All Members present during the whole or any part of a meeting must sign their names on the attendance sheet provided before the conclusion of the meeting.

11. Duration of Meeting

Termination of Meetings

11.1 If the business of the meeting has not been concluded by three hours after its start, the Mayor must interrupt the meeting. The Member speaking must immediately sit down and the Mayor will then immediately and without debate take a vote on the item under discussion (including any amendment) and shall then dispose of the remaining business in accordance with Rule 11.2 below.

Disposal of remaining business

11.2 Subject to Rule 11.3 below, if there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not been dealt with, they are deemed formally moved and seconded and shall be put to the vote by the Mayor without Debate.

- 11.3 Where a notice of motion submitted under Rule 15 falls to be dealt with under Rule 11.2, the Member giving the notice may either:
 - (a) speak to the motion for not more than three minutes before the motion is put by the Mayor without Debate; or
 - (b) require that the motion is deferred to the next available meeting and dealt with as business deferred from the previous meeting
- 11.4 During the process set out in Rule 11.2, the only motions which may be moved are:
 - that a matter be delegated or referred to an appropriate body or individual for decision or report
 - (b) that a matter be deferred to the next meeting
 - (c) to move a motion that may be moved during debate, under Rule 19.23
- 11.5 Voting shall be in accordance with these Procedure Rules including those relating to recorded votes.
- 11.6 When all the other motions or recommendations have been dealt with, the Mayor may, at his/her absolute discretion, allow a further fifteen minutes to be added to the meeting to discuss the minutes of Committees and take questions from Members on them. This extra period of time may not be used for any other purpose.

Close of the meeting

11.7 When all motions and recommendations have been dealt with, the Mayor will declare the meeting closed.

12. Interests of Members and Officers in matters under consideration

Declaration of Interests – Members

- 12.1 Members must declare in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct any non-pecuniary, non-disclosable pecuniary and any disclosable pecuniary interest which they have in any matter which is included in the agenda for the meeting, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct and at the item of business on the agenda relating to the declaration of Members' interests.
- 12.2 When declaring an interest Members must also disclose the nature of that interest.
- 12.3 In addition, if during the consideration of any matter, a Member realises that he/she has an interest which he/she should have declared in the matter under consideration, he/she shall declare that interest immediately. Where a Member arrives after the start of the meeting, the Member must make such declarations of interest as soon as possible after arrival and the Mayor shall permit them to do so at the earliest opportunity.

Withdrawal from the meeting for Disclosable Pecuniary Interests

Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter, he/she must withdraw from the meeting, including withdrawal from the public gallery, for the duration of

the consideration of the matter except where the Member has been granted a dispensation to speak and / or vote in accordance with the Members Code of Conduct.

13. Minutes

Signing the minutes

The Mayor will, at the next suitable meeting, move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy. If approved by the meeting, the Mayor will then sign the minutes.

No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary meeting

This is a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)
Regulations 1993. Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes is an extraordinary meeting, then the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes.

Form of Minutes

13.3 Minutes of a meeting shall record all motions and amendments in the exact form in which the Mayor put them to the meeting.

14. Petitions and Questions

Petitions

14.1 In accordance with the Council's Petition Scheme a petition organiser may request the opportunity to present their petition to the Council.

14.2 A petition must:

- (a) identify and be accompanied by contact details, including an address, for the petition organiser
- (b) contain the name, a valid address and the signature of least 10 local government electors for the administrative area of Thurrock who support the petition if a petition does not contain the signatures of 10 local government electors in Thurrock, proof of residence in the borough may be checked through Council Tax records, as a secondary measure
- (c) include a clear and concise statement covering the subject of the petition it should state what action the petitioners wish the Council to take
- (d) relate to a matter for which the authority has responsibility and which affects the authority or its area
- (e) not, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, be trivial, defamatory, offensive, be substantially the same as a petition which has been considered under these

Rules within the previous 12 months, name or clearly identify an employee of the authority, or involve the disclosure of confidential or exempt information

- 14.3 A petition may only be presented to Council when notice has been submitted to the Monitoring Officer no later than midday on the working day before that meeting of the Council.
- 14.4 Petitions may be presented to the Council in accordance with the authority's Petition Scheme by the petition organiser, by another signatory of the petition authorised by the petition organiser or by a Member on behalf of the petition organiser.
- 14.5 Any Member or member of the public presenting a petition shall be entitled to address the Council on the matter which is the subject of the petition for up to three minutes. Unless the petition relates to a matter which is to be determined by Council itself, it shall then be referred to the Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Committee, as appropriate, without debate.
- 14.6 The relevant Portfolio Holder or Committee Chair will have the opportunity to speak for up to one minute to acknowledge the petition.

Public Questions

- 14.7 Any resident of the authority's area may submit a question addressed to the Leader, a Member of the Cabinet, a Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee, or a Member appointed to represent the Council on a Joint Committee by delivering it in writing to the Monitoring Officer, to be received by Democratic Services by 5pm at least six working days prior to a meeting of Council (for example, as the Council usually meets on a Wednesday, the deadline for receipt of a question will be 5pm on the Monday the week before the meeting is due to be held). The question must relate to a matter which affects the authority or residents of the authority's area and in relation to which the authority has powers, and must name the individual to whom it is addressed. A question must be concise and clearly worded and must not extend into a statement. The question must relate to a single proposition and may not contain more than one part. No member of the public may submit more than one question in total for any one meeting of Council or ask or submit questions on behalf of another member of the public.
- 14.8 The Monitoring Officer shall copy the question to the person to whom it is addressed and place it on the agenda for the next meeting of Council unless, in his/her opinion:
 - (a) the request does not comply with the requirements of Rule 14.6 above
 - (b) the question is defamatory of an individual, offensive, discloses confidential or exempt information, names or clearly identifies an employee of the authority, or otherwise infringes the proper conduct of local government
 - (c) the question is substantially the same as a question which has been previously received and answered within a 3-month period, and there has been no significant and relevant change of circumstances since the previous question was answered; or
 - (d) the question discloses, or the reply is likely to disclose, confidential or exempt information

- 14.9 The Monitoring Officer shall put the questions on the agenda in the order that they have been received.
- 14.10 Where the questioner is present, the person to whom the question was addressed shall then provide a verbal answer to the question (which may include a more detailed answer in writing). Where the person who submitted the question is not present, the person to whom the question was addressed may provide a written response as an alternative to a verbal response.
- 14.11 Where the person who submitted the question is present, after the initial answer, they may ask one supplementary question arising directly out of the initial question or answer which must not extend into a statement, without notice, and the person who answered the initial question shall respond to the supplementary question.
- 14.12 The time limit for all questions under this Rule at any meeting shall be up to 45 minutes. Where a question is not dealt with at the meeting, the person to whom the question is addressed shall provide a written answer as soon as practicable, but no later than, the next meeting.

Members' Questions

Questions without notice

14.13 Any Member may ask the Leader, a Cabinet Member or the Chair of a Committee any question without notice upon an item of report or recommendation of the Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Committee concerned, immediately following the presentation of that matter.

Questions on Notice

- 14.14 Any Member may submit a maximum of 2 questions (except for the Leader of the Opposition who can ask 2 questions of the Leader and a further 2 in total of other Members) for the next ordinary meeting of Council addressed to the Leader, a Member of the Cabinet, a Chair of any Committee or Sub-Committee, or a Member appointed to represent the Council on a Joint Committee by delivering them in writing to the Monitoring Officer, to be received by Democratic Services by 5pm at least 6 working days prior to a meeting of Council for example, as the Council usually meets on a Wednesday, the deadline for receipt of questions will be 5pm on the Monday the week before the meeting is due to be held. The question must relate to a matter which affects the authority or residents of the authority's area and in relation to which the authority has powers, and must name the individual to whom it is addressed. A question must relate to a single proposition and may not contain more than one part. No Member may ask or submit questions on behalf of another Member.
- 14.15 The Monitoring Officer shall copy the question to the Member to whom it is addressed and place it on the agenda for the next meeting of Council unless, in his/her opinion:
 - (a) the request does not comply with the requirements of Rule 14.13 above
 - (b) the question is defamatory of an individual, offensive, discloses confidential or exempt information, or otherwise infringes the proper conduct of local government

- (c) the question is substantially the same as a question which has been previously received and answered within the past three months, and there has been no significant and relevant change of circumstances since the previous question was answered.
- 14.16 The Monitoring Officer shall place the questions on the agenda in the order that they have been received. Where the Monitoring Officer considers that the question or the answer is likely to disclose confidential or exempt information, he/she shall place the question in the exempt part of the agenda. A question may be withdrawn by the Member giving notice provided that such notice is in writing and is submitted to the Monitoring Officer before the agenda is published.
- 14.17 At the meeting, the Mayor shall enquire whether the Member submitting the question is present. Where they are present, the Member to whom the question was addressed shall then provide a verbal answer to the question (which may include a promise to provide a more detailed answer in writing). Where the Member who submitted the question is not present, the Member to whom the question was addressed may provide a written response as an alternative to a verbal response. A question may be withdrawn after the agenda has been published but before the meeting if the Member who submitted the question has given notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer. A question may be withdrawn at the meeting in person by the Member who submitted the question before it is to be put.

Supplementary Questions

14.18 Where the Member who submitted the question is present, after the initial answer, they may ask two supplementary questions arising directly out of the initial question or answer which must not extend into a statement, without notice, and the Member who answered the initial question shall respond to the supplementary questions.

Time Limits

14.19 The time limit for all questions under this Rule at any meeting shall be up to 45 minutes. Where a question is not dealt with at the meeting, the Member to whom the question is addressed shall provide a written answer as soon as practicable after the meeting.

Answers

- 14.20 An answer may take the form of:
 - (a) A direct oral answer
 - (b) Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a reference to that publication
 - (c) Where the reply cannot be conveniently given orally, for example because of the absence of the questioner, a written answer circulated.

15. Motions on Notice

15.1 Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 16 below, any Member may submit a notice of motion in writing to the Monitoring Officer for the next ordinary

Council meeting, or extraordinary meeting where the meeting is to be convened to consider the subject matter of the notice of motion, to be received by Democratic Services by 5pm at least six working days before the date of the meeting to which it is addressed – for example, as the Council usually meets on a Wednesday, the deadline for receipt of a Motion will be 5pm on the Monday the week before the meeting is due to be held. A notice of motion may be accompanied by a statement of not more than 200 words setting out the reason for the proposed motion.

- 15.2 A notice of motion must relate to a matter which affects the authority or the authority's area and must relate to a matter in respect of which the authority has a relevant function.
- 15.3 A notice of motion may be in more than one part and contain more than one recommendation, but must all relate to the same subject matter.
- 15.4 The Monitoring Officer may reject a notice of motion if, in his/her opinion:
 - (a) it does not comply with the requirements of Rule 15.1 above
 - (b) the notice of motion is defamatory of an individual, offensive, or otherwise infringes the proper conduct of local government
 - (c) the recommendation in the notice of motion would be illegal
 - (d) the notice of motion is substantially the same as a question that has been received previously and answered within the past year, and there has been no significant and relevant change of circumstances since the previous question was answered
- 15.5 Where the Monitoring Officer rejects a notice of motion, he/she shall inform the Member submitting the notice of motion as soon as practicable and shall not include the rejected notice of motion in the public record or agenda.
- 15.6 The Monitoring Officer shall record all such notices of motion (not including a rejected notice) in the order in which they are received and such record shall be open to public inspection on request.
- The Monitoring Officer shall include all notices of motion and accompanying statements in the agenda for the next relevant meeting of Council in the order received, save that:
 - (a) where two or more notices of motion are received from a particular Member for the same meeting, that Member's second notice of motion shall be included after all other Members' first notices of motion, that Member's third notice of motion shall be included after all other Members' second notices of motion, and so on.
 - (b) where he/she considers that the notice of motion, statement or consideration of the notice of motion is likely to result in the disclosure of confidential or exempt information, in which case he/she may group such notices of motion together with other items of business which are, in his/her opinion, likely to involve the exclusion of press and public during their consideration.

- The Council shall not debate any motion which would give rise to a significant change to the income of the Council, to its expenditure or to contract terms, unless it has received a report from the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer, as appropriate, setting out the legal or financial effect of the motion.
- Where a Member submits a notice of motion which would require an accompanying report under Rule 15.8, he/she shall at the same time provide the Chief Finance Officer and /or the Monitoring Officer with sufficient supporting information to enable them to prepare such accompanying report.
- 15.10 Where a motion which would require an accompanying report under Rule 15.8 falls to be moved without such accompanying report being made available to all Members of Council, the motion shall stand adjourned without debate to the next available meeting of Council.
- 15.11 There will be no time limit for moving and debating motions on notice.
- 15.12 Subject to Rule 15.13, if there are other motions or recommendations on the agenda that have not been dealt with by the close of the meeting, they are deemed formally moved and seconded and shall be put to the vote by the Mayor without Debate.
- 15.13 Where a notice of motion submitted under Rule 15 fails to be dealt with under Rule 15.12, the Member giving the notice (or any Member notified as proposing the motion under Rule 19.2) may either:
 - (a) speak to the motion for not more than three minutes before the motion is put by the Mayor without Debate; or
 - (b) require that the motion is deferred to the next available meeting and dealt with as business deferred from the previous meeting
- 15.14 If a motion is not moved and seconded, it will not be considered at the meeting to which it has been submitted. Any such motion may be submitted to a future meeting of the Council in accordance with Rule 15.1.

Automatic reference to the Executive / Cabinet or a Committee

- 15.15 If the subject matter of a motion is within the remit of the Cabinet or a Committee, upon being moved and formally seconded, it shall stand referred without discussion to the Executive / Cabinet or relevant Committee including Overview and Scrutiny Committees as the Council may determine, for consideration and report to the Council as soon as practical. At that time the motion shall be considered with any such report which shall include any appropriate risk assessments.
- 15.16 The Council may permit a motion to be dealt with at the meeting at which it is brought forward, provided that the subject matter is urgent or that it is appropriate to deal with the matter, subject to proper information regarding the matters referred to above.
- 15.17 If the motion has been moved only formally the mover shall be entitled to speak in introducing it when it is considered by the Council either at the same meeting (if agreed as above) or at the next meeting when the report of the Cabinet or a Committee is also submitted.

Motions Affecting Persons Employed by the Council

15.18 If any matter arises at a meeting to which the Local Government Act 1972 applies by virtue of section 100 (A) (2) as to the appointment, promotion, dismissal, salary, superannuation, or conditions of service or as to the conduct of any person employed by the Council, such matter shall not be the subject of discussion until the Council or Committee as the case may be, has decided whether or not the power to exclude the public under section 100 (A) (2) of the Local Government Act 1972 shall be exercised.

Motion to rescind a previous decision

15.19 A motion or amendment to rescind, or which has the effect of rescinding, a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past six months, may not be moved except upon a recommendation from the Leader or Cabinet for a variation of the approved Budget or Policy Framework, or where the Monitoring Officer confirms that it is appropriate for the Council to reconsider the matter to comply with law, as a result of a change of law or material change of circumstances.

Motion similar to one previously rejected

15.20 A motion or amendment in similar terms to one that has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least five Members. Once the motion or amendment is dealt with, no Member can propose a similar motion or amendment for a further six months.

Motion to remove the Leader of the Council from office

- 15.21 The Leader may be removed from office by resolution of the Council, on a notice of motion signed by fifteen Members and approved, without amendment, by the Council. Any such Motion must be delivered to the Monitoring Officer in writing at least ten working days before the date of the meeting to which it is addressed. If the Council passes such a resolution, a new Leader is to be elected:
 - (a) At the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office; or
 - (b) At a subsequent meeting
- 15.22 In the event that the Leader no longer holds office as described above, the Deputy Leader will carry out the role and duties of the Leader until the new Leader is elected by the Council.

16. Motions without Notice

- 16.1 The following motions may be moved without notice:
 - (a) To appoint a person to preside at the meeting or part of the meeting at which the motion is moved
 - (b) In relation to the accuracy of the minutes
 - (c) To change the order of business in the agenda
 - (d) To refer something to an appropriate body or individual

- (e) To elect a Leader or to appoint any other member to a position of authority, i.e., Chair of a Committee, where a vacancy exists in such office [see note below]
- (f) To appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the summons for the meeting
- (g) To receive reports or adoption of recommendations of the Executive / Cabinet, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Review and other Committees or Officers and to pass any resolutions following from them
- (h) To withdraw a motion
- (i) To amend a motion
- (j) To proceed to the next business
- (k) That the question be now put
- (I) To adjourn a debate
- (m) To adjourn a meeting
- (n) To suspend a particular Council procedure rule for a period not exceeding the duration of that meeting
- (o) To exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules
- (p) To not hear further from a Member named under Rule 22.5 or to exclude them from the meeting under Rule 22.6
- (q) To move an urgent motion where the Mayor has given consent under Rule 16.2

Note: Rule 16.1 (e) above will apply in respect of the Leader only at the annual meeting following an election, or following the removal or death or incapacity or resignation of the Leader.

16.2 The Mayor shall, notwithstanding this Rule, have the absolute discretion in exceptional circumstances to accept urgent written notices of motion that cannot reasonably await the next meeting of the Council save for motions of no confidence.

17. Motions of No Confidence

- 17.1 Motions of no confidence in any office holder shall require to be carried by a majority of the Members of the whole Council (that is, 25 Members) in order to be approved.
- 17.2 Motions proposing that a vote of no confidence be taken in respect of any office holder may not be treated as an urgent matter by the Mayor under Rule 16.2.

18. Reports and Recommendations

18.1 The following persons may make a report and recommendations to the Council:

- (a) The Mayor
- (b) The Leader
- (c) Portfolio Holder
- (d) The Chair of Standards and Audit Committee
- (e) The Monitoring Officer
- (f) A Proper Officer
- (g) Any other Officer, reporting in accordance with a statutory obligation
- (h) A Member or Officer reporting as the Council's representative on any statutory body or authority.
- 18.2 Except in cases of urgency, such person shall report by delivering the report and recommendation to the Monitoring Officer at least 10 clear working days before the meeting.
- 18.3 Any person having such right to report (or any other person nominated by them) shall have the right to address Council for 3 minutes on the matter of any report and shall answer any questions from Members thereon.

19. Rules of Debate

Requests to change the order in which Motions are considered

19.1 At any meeting of the Council, a Member may request the Mayor to exercise his / her discretion to change the order in which Motions submitted in accordance with Rule 15 are to be considered. The Mayor will exercise their discretion in deciding upon any such request but will take into account the views of any Member who has submitted a Motion that may not be considered in the order in which it was placed on the Agenda for the meeting.

Proposing and seconding motions

- 19.2 All motions, including amendments, must be proposed and seconded by Members, or deemed to be so under these Rules, before they may be debated and voted upon. Any motion submitted may be proposed by a Member other than the one who submitted it on notice to Democratic Services no later than midday on the day of the meeting, if the Member who submitted is not attending the meeting. The Member who submitted the motion may nominate another Member to move the motion at the meeting, if both Members are present at the meeting.
- 19.3 A Member seconding a motion shall indicate his/her intention to second the motion immediately following the proposal of the motion, and may then elect to speak immediately following the proposer, or may elect to reserve his/her speech until later in the debate (subject to the prior termination of the meeting or a resolution that the matter be now put).
- 19.4 Reports and recommendations from Cabinet, Committees, Sub-Committees and Officers shall be deemed to have been proposed and seconded, and the proposer's speech may

be taken (for Cabinet) by the Leader or another Cabinet Member deputed by the Leader or (for Committees and Sub-Committees) by the Chair, or in his/her absence the Vice-Chair, or in both their absence by a Member of the Committee or Sub-Committee chosen by the Mayor.

19.5 If the subject matter of the motion is within the remit of the Executive / Cabinet or a Committee, upon being moved and formally seconded, it shall stand referred without discussion to the Executive / Cabinet or relevant Committee including Overview and Scrutiny Committees as the Council may determine, for consideration and report to the Council as soon as practical. At that time the motion shall be considered with any such report which shall include any appropriate risk assessments.

Right to require motion in writing

19.6 Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it to be written down and handed to him/her before it is discussed.

Content and length of speeches

- 19.7 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a personal explanation or point of order.
- 19.8 No speech may exceed 4 minutes without the consent of the Mayor except:
 - (a) the proposer of any motion who shall have 5 minutes to move that motion (except on a motion to amend where the 4-minute time shall apply)
 - (b) The Leader, a Cabinet Member or the Chair or Vice Chair of a Committee who is presenting a report to Council or moving the adoption of minutes or recommendations may speak for 5 minutes
 - (c) At the Meeting of Council at which the authority's Budget is proposed, the Leader shall be allowed 20 minutes to set out his/her priorities or to propose the Budget, and a further 10 minutes to respond to any speech. The Leader of the Opposition shall be allowed 15 minutes to reply to a Leader's speech (but not to the response).
- In the event of the absence of the Leader or the Leader of the Opposition, the Mayor shall invite the Deputy Leader or another Cabinet Member (for the Leader) or another Member of the same political group (for the Leader of the Opposition) to exercise the rights of speech of the Leader or the Leader of the Opposition.

When a Member may speak again

- 19.10 A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of debate, except:
 - (a) To second formally a motion or amendment, having reserved the right to speak later
 - (b) To speak once on an amendment moved by another Member

- (c) To move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last spoke
- (d) If his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another Member, to speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried)
- (e) In exercise of a right of reply
- (f) On a point of order
- (g) By way of personal explanation.

Amendments to motions

- 19.11 An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and may be in either or both of the following forms:
 - (a) To refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or reconsideration; or
 - (b) To leave out words and/or add and/or insert words as long as the effect of so doing is not to negate the motion.
- 19.12 Any amendment must be in writing and submitted to the Monitoring Officer by no later than noon on the day of the meeting, except:
 - (a) with the consent of the Mayor
 - (b) amendments to motions which have been moved without notice, or
 - (c) amendments to recommendations arising from Officers' reports
- 19.13 Amendments shall be taken in the order in which they have been moved (unless the Mayor determines otherwise for the efficient running of business). Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed of.
- 19.14 If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be moved.
- 19.15 If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are moved.
- 19.16 After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, putting it to the vote.

Alteration of motion

- 19.17 A Member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of the meeting. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion.
- 19.18 A Member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. If the seconder is not present, another Member may

second the altered motion on his/her behalf. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion.

19.19 Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made.

Withdrawal of motion

- 19.20 A motion may be withdrawn by the person giving notice provided that such notice is in writing and is submitted to the Monitoring Officer before the agenda is published. A motion may be withdrawn after the agenda has been published but before the meeting if the Member who submitted the motion has given notice in writing to the Monitoring Officer. A motion may be withdrawn at the meeting in person by the Member who submitted the motion, before it has been moved.
- 19.21 A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. If the seconder is not present, another Member may consent to the withdrawal on his/her behalf. The meeting's consent will be signified without discussion. No Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused.

Right of reply and order of debate

- 19.22 The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on a motion immediately before it is put to the vote.
- 19.23 If an amendment is moved the debate shall proceed in the following manner:
 - (a) The mover of the motion shall speak
 - (b) The seconder of the motion shall speak unless he or she has reserved their speech
 - (c) The mover of the amendment shall speak
 - (d) The seconder of the amendment shall speak unless he or she has reserved their speech
 - (e) There shall follow such other number of speakers as the Mayor considers appropriate
 - (f) If the seconders of the substantive motion and the amendment reserved their speeches, they shall then speak
 - (g) The mover of the amendment shall have a right of reply
 - (h) The mover of the substantive motion shall have the final right of reply
 - (i) A vote shall be taken on the amendment
 - (j) A vote shall be taken on the substantive motion, as amended if appropriate, without further debate

Motions which may be moved during debate

- 19.24 When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following procedural motions:
 - (a) to withdraw that motion
 - (b) to amend that motion
 - (c) to proceed to the next business
 - (d) that the question be now put
 - (e) to adjourn a debate
 - (f) to adjourn a meeting
 - (g) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules
 - (h) not to hear further a Member named, or to exclude them from the meeting

Closure motions

- 19.25 A Member may move, without comment, any one of the following motions at the end of a speech of another Member:
 - (a) to proceed to the next business
 - (b) that the question be now put
 - (c) to adjourn a debate
 - (d) to adjourn a meeting
- 19.26 If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Mayor considers that the item has been sufficiently discussed, he or she will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the vote. If the procedural motion is carried the meeting will proceed to the next item of business without any further debate.
- 19.27 If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Mayor considers that the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote.
- 19.28 If the procedural motion is passed the Mayor will give the mover of the original motion a right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote.
- 19.29 If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded and the Mayor considers that the item has not been sufficiently discussed and cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the procedural motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original motion the right of reply.

Point of Order

19.30 A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear them immediately. A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Procedure Rules or the law. In relation to a breach of the law, the Member must indicate the Rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be final.

Personal explanation

19.31 A Member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which may have been inaccurate or appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final.

20. Voting

Majority

- 20.1 Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those Members voting and present in the room at the time the question was put.
- 20.2 Votes on a motion of no confidence in any office holder must be passed by a majority of the Members of the whole Council.

Motions in several parts

20.3 Where a motion is in several parts, the vote shall be taken on the whole motion, unless the Mayor at his/her discretion determines that each part shall be taken separately, or the meeting so resolves.

Mayor's casting vote

20.4 If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a second or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Mayor chooses to exercise a casting vote.

Show of hands or electronic voting

20.5 The Mayor may take a vote on a show of hands. In all other cases, he/she shall take a vote by use of such electronic voting system as may be available.

Recorded vote

The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 require that immediately after any vote relating to the budget or council tax is taken at a budget decision meeting of an authority there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who abstained from voting. A recorded vote will therefore be taken on any decision relating to the budget or council tax and will follow the procedure set out at Rule 20.7 below.

- 20.7 Notwithstanding Rule 20.5, if any five Members present at the meeting demand it by standing to indicate such demand, the names for and against the motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and entered into the minutes. The procedure for a recorded vote shall be as follows:
 - (a) The Mayor shall put the motion and the Chief Executive shall call out the names of Members and record their votes or abstentions
 - (b) The Mayor shall declare the result of the vote and the vote of each Member shall be recorded in the minutes

Right to require individual vote to be recorded

20.8 This is a mandatory standing order under the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)
Regulations 1993 and cannot therefore be waived. Where any Member requests it
immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so recorded in the minutes to show
whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained from voting.

Voting on appointments

If there are more people nominated for any position(s) than there are position(s) to be filled and there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of the required number of people, then the name of the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. Where there is an equality of votes for a person to continue in the appointment process, a vote shall be taken between those candidates having an equality of votes to determine which candidate shall continue in the appointment process.

Voting on changes to the electoral cycle of the Council

20.10 Notwithstanding Rule 20.1, two-thirds of the Members present at an Extraordinary Council Meeting must vote in favour of a recommendation to change to whole-council elections for the resolution to be approved.

21. Exclusion of Public and Press

21.1 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the Access to Information Rules in Chapter 8 or Rule 23 below.

22. Members' Conduct

Order of Speeches

22.1 Subject to the Rules of debate, the Mayor shall have absolute discretion as to the order in which he/she calls Members to speak.

Standing to Speak

When a Member speaks at a Council meeting, he/she shall, unless physically impaired from so doing or with the Mayor's consent, stand and address the meeting through the Mayor. If more than one Member stands to speak, the Mayor shall call a specific Member to speak and all other Members shall then sit. Other Members must remain seated whilst

any Member is speaking, except a Member who stands to signify his/her intention to make a point of order or a point of personal explanation

Mayor standing

22.3 When the Mayor enters or leaves the Council Chamber, all Members shall stand. When the Mayor stands to speak during the course of the meeting, all Members shall cease speaking and shall sit down.

Telephones and electronic equipment

22.4 Each Member shall ensure that his/her mobile telephone and other electronic equipment is silent during any meeting and that his/her use of such equipment does not interfere with the proper conduct of the meeting.

Member not to be heard further

If a Member disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving improperly or offensively or obstructs the conduct of the meeting, the Mayor may warn the Member as to his/her conduct. If the Member persists in behaving improperly or offensively or deliberately disrupts the conduct of the meeting despite such warning, the Mayor may move that the Member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.

Member to leave the meeting

22.6 If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Mayor may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.

General disturbance

22.7 If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Mayor may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary.

23. Disturbance by Public

Removal of member of the public

23.1 If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the person concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor may order their removal from the meeting room.

Clearance of part of meeting room

23.2 If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.

24. Admission to and reporting of meetings

24.1 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, allow any person to attend and report on meetings, or those parts of meetings, that are open to the public using any

communication methods, including the internet, to publish, post or otherwise share the results of their reporting activities. "Reporting" is defined in the Regulations as:

- (a) Filming, photographing or making an audio recording of proceedings at a meeting
- (b) Using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later
- (c) Reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not present
- If, at any time during the meeting, the Mayor feels that filming, recording, reporting or photography is disrupting proceedings, the provisions set out in Rules 22.4, 22.7, 23.1 and 23.2 will apply.
- 24.3 In any instance where the press and public have been excluded from the meeting in accordance with the provisions set out in Chapter 8 of this Constitution, the Council will not allow reporting on the meeting using methods which:
 - (a) can be used without that person's presence at the meeting, and
 - (b) enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later

25. Suspension and Amendment of Council Procedure Rules

Suspension

25.1 All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rules 13.2 and 20.8 (which are mandatory) may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice if at least two thirds of the Members of the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting.

Amendment

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of procedure will, when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the appropriate Committee for consideration and report back to Council at the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

26. Interpretation of Rules

The ruling of the Mayor as to the construction or application of any of these Rules shall not further be challenged at any meeting of the Council.

27. Appointment of Members to Committees

Allocation of seats to Political Groups

- Whenever the authority is required to undertake a review of the allocation of seats to political groups, the Chief Executive shall conduct such review and report to Council setting out the number of seats on each Committee and outside body which are allocated to each political group and the number of seats which remain unallocated, in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and shall send a copy of such report to the Leader of each political group and to any Members who are not members of any political group.
- 27.2 Following receipt of a copy of such report, each Leader of a political group shall make nomination to Council of Members for appointment to those seats on each Committee which are allocated to his/her political group. Such nomination may be made in writing to the Chief Executive in advance of the meeting or may be made verbally at the meeting at which such appointments are to be made.
- 27.3 The Leader of any political group may notify the Chief Executive in writing at least ten clear working days before any meeting of Council stating his/her intention to move that a named Councillor be removed from a seat on a particular Committee or outside body which has been allocated to his/her political group and to move the appointment of another Member to that seat, and the Chief Executive shall then include an appropriate item of business in the Council agenda for the next appropriate meeting of Council.

Appointment of Members to Committees

- 27.4 At the meeting of Council where an item of business relating to the appointment of Committees is included on the agenda, the Council shall appoint Members to each Committee in accordance with the nominations made by each group Leader.
- 27.5 The Council will then appoint Members to those seats on Committees which have not been allocated to any political group from amongst those Members who are not members of any political group.

Appointment of co-opted Members of Committees

- 27.6 Where Council determines that a Committee shall include one or more co-opted Member, it shall also specify whether such Member shall be a voting or a non-voting Member, the dates and term of office of any such appointment and the procedure for selection of such co-opted Member(s), which may include advertisement and competition or invitation for nomination from specified bodies.
- 27.7 Co-opted Membership of any Committee shall not be subject to proportionality.

28. Appointment of substitute Members

Appointment

28.1 In like manner as for the appointment of full Members of Committees, where the Leader of a political group may nominate a number of Members determined by the Chief Executive for appointment by Council as full Members of the Committee, the Leader of a political

- group may also nominate an equal number of Members for appointment as substitute Members of the Committee, and Council shall appoint such substitute Members in accordance with the nominations made by the Leader of the political group. No Member shall be appointed as a full Member and a substitute Member of the same Committee.
- In like manner as for full Members of Committees, the Leader of a political group may move that a Member of that political group cease to be appointed as a substitute Member of a specified Committee and move that another Member be appointed as a substitute Member of that Committee, and Council shall make such removal and appointment in accordance with the nominations of the Leader of the group.

Substitution

- 28.3 A substitute Member may attend a particular meeting of the Committee to which he/she has been appointed as a substitute Member, in substitution for a full Member of that Committee from the same political group and with the full powers of a full Member where:
 - (a) the full Member for whom the substitute Member will substitute will be absent throughout the whole of the particular meeting; and
 - (b) the substitute Member has notified Democratic Services before the start of the meeting that he/she will be acting as substitute for that meeting, and of the name of the full Member for whom he/she will substitute

Powers and duties

- 28.4 A substitute Member shall have none of the rights of a Member of a Committee unless he/she has been substituted in accordance with Rule 28.3 above.
- 28.5 Once substituted in accordance with Rule 28.3 above, the substitute Member shall have all the powers of a full Member at the meeting.

29. Working Groups

- 29.1 From time to time, the Council may wish to establish Working Groups to consider a specific piece of work or look into a particular issue in more detail outside of the formal meeting. Any such Working Group will comprise of members of the Council, working informally with Officers or other Members and reporting their findings back to the Council. A list of Working Groups will be published and maintained on the Council's website which will state the title, date established, membership, and remit of any Working Groups.
- 29.2 A Working Group established by the Council is not required to conduct its proceedings in accordance with the Scrutiny Procedure Rules in Part 2 of this Chapter or the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Chapter 8 of this Constitution.



Page 49

DRAFT Constitution Working Group Work Programme 2023/2024

Topic	Date	Working Group	Notes
Update and Review of Finance Procedure Rules (CIPFA) (Chapter 9, Part 2)	August	OCWG	To receive an update from CIPFA on their work and agree potential training schedule for officers.
Overview and Scrutiny Rules (Chapter 4)	August	OCWG	To review chapter 4 and make any technical or professional comments in preparation for CfGS activity.
Council Procedure Rules (Chapter 2)	August	OCWG	To make any technical or professional comments on Chapter 2 in preparation going to the Member Group.
Update and Review of Finance Procedure Rules (CIPFA) (Chapter 9, Part 2)	September	MCWG	To review draft of the Finance Procedure Rules.
Overview and Scrutiny Rules (Chapter 4)	September	MCWG	To review chapter 4 and make any technical or professional comments in preparation for CfGS activity.
Council Procedure Rules (Chapter 2)	September	MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 2 in preparation of redrafting of this section
Officer Scheme of Delegation (Chapter 6)	October	OCWG	To make any technical or professional comments on Chapter 6 in preparation going to the Member Group. Views on what officers would like to see to daily work will be helpful.
Contract Procedure Rules (Chapter 9, Part 2)	October	OCWG	To make any technical or professional comments on Chapter 9, Part 2 in accordance with new Finance Procedure Rules
			da
Revisit any further issues from September's meeting	November	MCWG	To pick up any outstanding items or updates on issues discussed.

	1	1.101110	
Committees (Chapter 5)	November	MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 5 in preparation for consideration at OCV
Committees (Chapter 5)	December	OCWG	To make comments on Chapter 5 in preparation for drafting new section.
Leader/Cabinet Executive (Chapter 3)	December	OCWG	To make any technical or professional comments on Chapter 3 in preparation going to the Member Group.
Contract Procedure Rules (Chapter 9, Part 2)	January	MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 9, Part 2 in accordance with new Finance Procedure Rules.
Leader/Cabinet Executive (Chapter 3)	January	MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 3 in preparation for redrafting.
Ethical Governance (Chapter 7)	February	OCWG/ MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 3 in preparation for redrafting.
Officer Employment Procedure Rules (Chapter 10)	February	OCWG/ MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 3 in preparation for redrafting.
Miscellaneous (Chapter 12)	February	OCWG/ MCWG	To make any comments on Chapter 3 in preparation for redrafting.
		1	